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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA PANAMA CITY DIVISION  

  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  

  

  

v.                Case No. 5:20cr28-MW/MJF  

  

MARGO DEAL ANDERSON and      

JAMES DAVID FINCH,  

  

Defendants.  

                                                            /  

  

GOVERNMENT’S CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO  

MOTIONS TO DISMISS THIRD SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT   

  

    On November 28, 2022, Defendants Margo Anderson and James  

Finch filed motions to dismiss the third superseding indictment. ECF 385 

& 386. Defendant Finch adopted Defendant Anderson’s motion. ECF 385 

at 12 n.6. Both Defendants assert that Count 1 is duplicitous; that it 

charges more than one conspiracy because the list of City business that a 

bribe was allegedly intended to influence or reward is open ended and the 

unlawful bribery plan allegedly includes bribes from Defendant Finch to 

another Commissioner as well as Defendant Anderson. Both Defendants 

argue for a narrow interpretation of the federal program bribery statute 

(pertaining to Counts 1, 2, 3, and 4) to try to decriminalize their corrupt 



Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 403   Filed 12/12/22   Page 2 of 26 

2  

  

activity. Count 5 alleges that Defendant Finch lied to the FBI when he 

said he sold a Motorhome to Defendant Anderson’s spouse because it was 

not really a sale (just as $45,000  in checks to Commissioner Barnes were 

allegedly not “loans”), and further alleges that the bill of sale Defendant 

Finch gave the FBI was false because it said Defendant Anderson’s 

spouse had paid $35,000 for it by July 6, 2018, when there is no evidence 

of money paid until December 2019. Defendant Finch says that Count 5 

does not fairly inform him of the charge against him and does not state 

an offense. For the following reasons, this Court should deny the motions.   

ARGUMENT  

  Count 1 is not duplicitous for either asserted reason; it charges one 

conspiracy for Defendant Finch (the hub) to influence generally (with 

some specifics noted) the official actions of Defendant Anderson and 

Commissioner Barnes (the spokes) by giving them things of value. The 

substantive bribery charges (Counts 2, 3, and 4) are sufficient and plainly 

in accord with Eleventh Circuit precedent concerning 18 U.S.C. §666.  

Count 5 informs Defendant Finch of the charge and states an offense.  

  

 I.  Legal standard.  
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The Sixth Amendment guarantees every defendant the right to be 

informed of the government’s accusation by a legally sufficient 

indictment. See, e.g., United States v. Silverman, 745 F.2d 1386, 1392 

(11th Cir. 1984). The standards used in judging the sufficiency of an 

indictment are well established. “The validity of an indictment is 

determined from reading the indictment as a whole and . . . by practical, 

not technical, considerations,” United States v. Perkins, 748 F.2d 1519, 

1524 (11th Cir. 1984) (quotation omitted), and an indictment must be 

given “a common-sense construction.” United States v. McGarity, 669 

F.3d 1218, 1235 (11th Cir. 2012).  “The test is not whether the indictment 

could have been framed in a more satisfactory manner but whether it 

conforms to minimal constitutional safeguards.”  Perkins, 748 F.2d at 

1524 (quotation marks omitted). Under this standard, “an indictment is 

sufficient if it, first, contains the elements of the offense charged and 

fairly informs the defendant of the charge against which he must defend, 

and second, enables him to plead an acquittal or a conviction in bar of 

future prosecutions for the same offense.”  Hamling v. United States, 418  

U.S.  87, 117 (1974). “The sufficiency of a criminal indictment is 

determined from its face.” United States v. Salman, 378 F.3d 1266, 1268 
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(11th Cir. 2004).  Rule 7(c)(1) only requires a “plain, concise and definite 

written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged.”  

A motion to dismiss an indictment should therefore be denied if the 

indictment contains “the elements of the offense intended to be charged, 

and sufficiently apprise[s] the defendant of what he must be prepared to 

meet.” United States v. McGill, 634 F. App’x 234, 235 (11th Cir. 2015) 

(quotation marks omitted). “[A]n indictment may be short and simple— 

its allegations are sufficient if they include all elements of the offense and 

briefly describe the facts of the commission of the offense.”  United States 

v. deVegter, 198 F.3d 1324, 1330 (11th Cir. 1999) (internal citations 

omitted). To be sufficient, an indictment “need do little more than track 

the language of the statute charged.”  United States v. Adkinson, 135 F.3d 

1363, 1375 n.37 (11th Cir. 1998). And “[a]n indictment is to be construed 

liberally in favor of its sufficiency.” United States v. Davis, 306 F.3d 398, 

411 (6th Cir. 2002).  

It is well-settled that a motion to dismiss an indictment does not  

“provide for a pre-trial determination of the sufficiency of the evidence.”   

Salman, 378 F.3d at 1268; United States v. Critzer, 951 F.2d 306, 307 

(11th Cir. 1992).  “Under Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b) an indictment may be 
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dismissed where there is an infirmity of law in the prosecution; a court 

may not dismiss an indictment, however, on a determination of facts that 

should have been developed at trial.” United States v. Torkington, 812 

F.2d 1347, 1354 (11th Cir. 1987).  The question is whether the factual 

allegations in the indictment, when viewed in the light most favorable to 

the government, are sufficient to charge the offense as a matter of law.  

Id.  

 II.  Count 1 is not duplicitous.    

As the Court noted in its earlier order, “[d]uplicitous counts 

impermissibly charge ‘two or more separate and distinct offenses.” ECF  

185 at 2 (quoting United States v. Schlei, 122 F.3d 944, 977 (11th Cir. 

1997) (emphasis added and internal quotation marks omitted). “The 

problems with a duplicitous count are threefold: ‘(1) A jury may convict a 

defendant without unanimously agreeing on the same offense; (2) A 

defendant may be prejudiced in a subsequent double jeopardy defense; 

and (3) A court may have difficulty determining the admissibility of 

evidence.’” Id. (quoting Schlei, 122 F.3d at 977).   
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The role of a court reviewing an indictment for duplicity is “solely 

to assess whether the indictment itself can be read to charge only one 

violation in each count.” United States v. Mancuso, 718 F.3d 780, 792 (9th  

Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); see also 

United States v. Morse, 785 F.2d 771, 774 (9th Cir. 1986) (same); United 

States v. Smallwood, 3:09cr249, 2011 WL 2784434, at *6 (N.D. Tex. July 

15, 2011) (same). “A duplicitous count is one that charges two or more 

separate offenses, not one that merely describes factual matter relevant 

to proving more than one criminal offense.” United States v. Buckingham, 

No. 4:18cr376, 2018 WL 6570874, at *3 (N.D. Ala. Dec. 13, 2018)  

  Defendant Finch says Count 1 is impermissibly duplicitous because it 

includes a “non-exhaustive” list of City business matters that are the 

subject of the alleged bribes. But as the Eleventh Circuit said in United 

States v. McNair, 605 F.3d 1152 (11th Cir. 2010), “even if §666 requires 

a quid pro quo, that requirement is satisfied by showing a series of 

payments intended generally to influence the official’s decisions.” Id. at 

1187. That a certain charge specifies certain things and allows for others 

does not mean it charges distinct crimes. It is merely a bit of specificity 

within the realm of what a thing of value was generally intended to 
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influence. It is one unlawful plan where “a person bribes an individual or 

entity in exchange for a continuing course of conduct.” United States v.  

Roberson, 998 F.3d 1237, 1245 n.10 (11th Cir. 2021), cert. denied, 142 S. 

Ct. 1109 (2022).1   

  Defendant Anderson raises a different duplicity argument, which 

Defendant Finch joins, and which the Court has already rejected in a 

related context; the notion that because the charging document does not 

specifically allege that she had knowledge of and join in Defendant Finch 

providing $45,000 to Commissioner Barnes to influence him, there are 

two alleged conspiracies.  ECF 386 at 26.   

  A conspiracy that allegedly included Defendant Finch as the hub and 

Defendant Anderson and Commissioner Barnes as spokes (as Count of 

the third superseding indictment does) is not duplicitous simply because 

one spoke does not know about the other’s involvement. This is black 

letter law. See, e.g., Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O13.1 

(explaining that “[a] person may be a conspirator without knowing all the 

details of the unlawful plan or the names and identities of all the other  

 
1 By analogy, suppose there was a charge of a conspiracy to commit bank robbery, 

“including but not limited to” two banks actually robbed, which would properly allow 

for proof of other robberies executed or contemplated as part of that unlawful plan.  
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alleged conspirators,” and that the government need not “prove that all 

the people named in the indictment were members of the plan,” or “prove 

that the members planned together all the details of the plan or the ‘overt 

acts’ that the indictment charges would be carried out in an effort to 

commit the intended crime.”).   

  Count 1 of the third superseding indictment charges conspiracy to 

commit federal program bribery under 18 U.S.C. §§371 and 666. Count 1 

of the superseding and second superseding indictments, however, were 

based on conspiracy to commit honest services fraud under 18 U.S.C. 

§§1343, 1346, and 1349, which the Supreme Court has limited to bribes 

and kickbacks. As noted below, §666 liability is different, and broader, 

than honest services fraud. But there is no significant difference as it 

relates to whether there were multiple conspiracies.    

  As it relates to these allegations, the Court has already found that these 

schemes “have the same goal—to disperse City contracts in exchange for 

bribes—and are similar in nature.” ECF 185 at 5. As alleged, Defendant 

Finch is the hub. Defendant Anderson and  
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Commissioner Barnes are spokes. And the rim is the common purpose of 

Defendant Finch providing benefits to these City officials with an intent 

to influence or reward them as it relates to his business with the City.  

   Count 1 is plainly not duplicitous.    

III. Counts 1, 2, 3, and 4 are in accord with Eleventh Circuit 

precedent governing federal program bribery.   

  

Regarding Counts 1 (in part), 2 and 3, under certain circumstances 

not at issue in these motions, §666(a)(2) punishes “whoever corruptly 

gives, offers, or agrees to give anything of value to any person, with intent 

to influence or reward [a local government] agent . . . in connection with 

any business, transaction, or series of transactions of such [local 

government] involving anything of value of $5,000 or more.” The elements 

of that offense are:  

(1) that [name of agent claimed by the government to be 

rewarded or influenced by the Defendant] was an agent of 

[name of entity claimed by the government to be the 

affected entity];   

(2) that [same name of affected entity as above] was a[n] 

[organization] [State government] [local government] 

[Indian tribal government] [any agency thereof] that 

received in any one-year period benefits in excess of 

$10,000 under a Federal program involving [a grant] [a 

contract] [a subsidy] [a loan] [a guarantee] [insurance] 

[other form of Federal assistance];  
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(3) that during the one-year period, the Defendant [gave] 

[offered] [agreed to give] something of value to [agent of 

entity] with the intent to influence or reward [the agent] 

in connection with any business, transaction, or series of 

transactions of [entity’s name], involving something of 

value of $5,000 or more; and  

(4) that in so doing, the Defendant acted corruptly.  

  “To act ‘corruptly’ means to act voluntarily, deliberately, and 

dishonestly to either accomplish an unlawful end or result or to use an 

unlawful method or means to accomplish an otherwise lawful end or 

result.” Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O24.2.   

Regarding Counts 1 (in part) and 4, §666(a)(1)(B) is the other side 

of the coin,2 punishing a local government agent who “corruptly solicits 

or demands for the benefit of any person, or accepts or agrees to accept, 

anything of value from any person, intending to be influenced or 

rewarded in connection with any business, transaction, or series of 

 
2 United States v. Schwartz, No. 19-20451, 2021 WL 5233291, at *2 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 

10, 2021) (“[C]ontrary to Defendant’s contention, courts have interpreted § 

666(a)(1)(B) and § 666(a)(2) to be essentially different sides of the same coin and have 

allowed a bribe recipient to be charged as part of a conspiracy to offer a bribe to a 

public official under § 666(a)(2)”); see also United States v. Warner, 843 F. App'x 740, 

747 (6th Cir. 2021) (“Indeed, the elements of conspiracy to pay and conspiracy to 

solicit a bribe merge completely when the co-conspirators are themselves the bribe’s 

payor and payee, as they were here.”); Ex parte O'Leary, 53 F.2d 956 (7th Cir. 1931) 

(agreement between persons not officers and officers to give and receive a bribe may 

be prosecuted as conspiracy though substantive offenses of giver and receiver of bribe 

are defined by different statutes).   
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transactions of such organization, government, or agency involving any 

thing of value of $5,000 or more.” The elements of the offense are:   

  
(1) the Defendant was an agent of [name of entity claimed by the 

government to be the affected entity];  

  

(2) [same name of affected entity as above] was a[n] 

[organization] [State government] [local government] [Indian 

tribal government] [any agency thereof] that received in any 

oneyear period benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal 

program involving [a grant] [a contract] [a subsidy] [a loan] [a 

guarantee] [insurance] [other form of Federal assistance];  

  

(3) during the one-year period the Defendant [solicited or 

demanded] accepted] [agreed to accept] a thing valued at 

approximately $______ from someone other than [entity’s 

name];  

  

(4) in return for the [acceptance] [agreement], the Defendant 

intended to be influenced or rewarded for a transaction or 

series of transactions of [entity’s name] involving something 

worth $5,000 or more; and  

  

(5) the Defendant acted corruptly.  

  

Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O24.2. The definition of acting 

“corruptly” is the same. Id.  

Counts 1, 2, 3, and 4, track the statutes, contain the elements of the 

offenses charged, fairly inform the applicable Defendant of the charge 

against which they each must defend, and enable them to plead an 
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acquittal or a conviction in bar of future prosecutions for the same 

charges. They each contain a statement of “essential facts” constituting 

the offense and then some.  See Fed. R. Crim P. 7(c)(1). Accordingly, 

Counts 1, 2, 3, and 4 are legally sufficient. But it seems Defendants want 

the Court to read some other requirement into the statutory elements of 

the offenses when judging the facial validity of the third superseding 

indictment.   

Both Defendants argue for a narrow interpretation of 18 U.S.C. 

§666 favoring corrupt activity.3 Both Defendants’ motions discuss the law 

as they would like it to be, not as it is; their position is contradicted by 

binding precedent. Their arguments are something to raise in a Rule 29 

motion, jury instructions, or an appeal of a conviction. None of them 

concern the legal sufficiency of the indictment.  

  
 3 Considering that Defendants’ arguments for facial legal insufficiency center around 

the term “corruptly” in the statute, it is worth noting that Defendants’ notion of acting 

“corruptly” varies considerably in direct relation to their self-interest. They want the 

Court to adopt an interpretation of the federal program bribery statute, §666, which 

would permit the buying and selling of public office—by dismissing an indictment 

before trial—so long as neither the briber nor the bribee is fool enough to speak in 



Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 403   Filed 12/12/22   Page 13 of 26 

13  

  

concrete specifics on tape. They say the Mayor accepting a $70,000 motorhome and 

pressing the contractor’s business for sometimes nonsensical reasons is not sufficient 

to show acting “corruptly” under §666. ECF 385 at 19. Yet, in their view, accepting a 

partial contribution to a birthday gift of a used motorcycle in 2010 unconnected with 

official action apparently evidences the “serious corruption” of a local law enforcement 

officer 12 years later. If the standard they applied to that individual in their 

accusations of corruption applied to Defendants in this case, they would surely lose 

their motions to dismiss, and indeed be in an even greater pickle than the current 

trial they are so obviously desperate to avoid.  

  

Referencing other statutes not applicable here, 3  Defendant 

Anderson contends that §666 “also requires a quid pro quo bribery scheme 

and that anything less than a quid pro quo is not a violation of section 

666(a)(1)(B).” ECF 386 at 7. Defendant Anderson argues that §666 

requires the same thing as their interpretation of McDonnell and 

honestservices fraud; that the official act need not be identified at the 

time of the agreement, but the matter must be. ECF 386 at 11. This Court 

has already correctly rejected that interpretation of McDonnell. See 

United States v. Burnette, No. 4:18cr76-RH/EMT, 2021 WL 5987025, at 

*7-*8 (N.D. Fla. Dec. 18, 2021) (“To count as a matter that might later 

come before the governmental entity, a matter need not be identified at 

the time of the payment; it is sufficient if the payment is made in 

exchange for favorable treatment on any not-yet-known matter that 

 
3 Defendant Anderson’s motion has discussion of 18 U.S.C. §§201 and 1346. 

The third superseding indictment does not charge Defendants with offenses under 

those statutes.   
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might later come up for a vote” and “[n]othing in § 201 or McDonnell 

suggests an agreement of this kind is not a bribe”). This Court should not 

import such a requirement into §666 that even under McDonnell should 

not be imported into honest services fraud. And even if the Court did that, 

for  

  
jury instructions or Rule 29, it would not make the indictment tracking 

the statute deficient.  

Defendants’ position is contrary to the law of the circuit. In United 

States v. Paradies, 98 F.3d 1266 (11th Cir. 1996), the defendant asserted 

that a “specific official act in exchange for a specific corrupt payment” was 

a required element. Id. at 1289. The evidence in the case was periodic 

payments to three public officials, only one of which payment appears 

(from the decision) to have been connected to a particular matter or 

specific official act. Id. at 1276. Like here, the government argued there 

that a jury instruction that tracked the statute was not error. Id. 

Reviewing for plain error, the court agreed, explaining that the “jury 

charges tracked the statutory requirements, and the evidence at trial was 

sufficient for a jury to find that [the defendant public official] accepted 
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payments for his votes and his influence upon the City Council and the 

administration. Such a finding would satisfy any quid pro quo 

requirement under the statute.” Id.   

In McNair, the Eleventh Circuit “readily determine[d] the  

Indictment itself was not defective for failure to allege a specific quid pro 

quo.” 605 F.3d at 1186. The court explained that to accept it “would 

permit a person to pay a significant sum to a [local government] employee 

intending the payment to produce a future, as yet unidentified favor 

without violating §666.” See id. at 1188. The court concluded “we now 

expressly hold there is no requirement in §666(a)(1)(B) or (a)(2) that the 

government allege or prove an intent that a specific payment was 

solicited, received, or given in exchange for a specific official act, termed 

a quid pro quo.” Id. at 1188 (emphasis added). The court endorsed the 

district court’s instruction—which is what the pattern instruction says— 

regarding corrupt intent that narrows the conduct that violates §666 “but 

does not impose a specific quid pro requirement.” Id. at 1188. The court 

said “[t]he intent that must be proven is an intent to corruptly influence 
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or to be influenced ‘in connection with any business’ or ‘transaction[.]’ ”4 

Id. at 1189.5 The court further noted that “even if §666 requires a quid pro 

quo, that requirement is satisfied by showing a series of payments  

  
intended generally to influence the official’s decisions.” Id. at 1187 (citing 

Paradies, 98 F.3d at 1289 (emphasis added)).6   

In reaching its conclusion, McNair expressly aligned the Eleventh  

Circuit with three other circuit court decisions. Id. at 1189. In United 

States v. Abbey, 560 F.3d 513 (6th Cir. 2009), the court said “the proper 

approach here is to hew to the statute's language,” which it recited, before 

explaining “the jury was only required to find what it did—that [the 

 
4   The McNair discussion of jury instructions has a helpful illustration. The 

defendants requested that the jury be instructed that if a thing of value was given 

out of friendship or merely to foster goodwill and not to corruptly influence or reward, 

then a not-guilty verdict was required. 605 F.3d at 1194. The court said “[a] finding 

that a gift was made or accepted with corrupt intent necessarily excludes friendship 

and goodwill gifts.” Id. at 1195.   

  

5 Different things might be relevant to proving corrupt intent. As McNair said, “the 

extent to which the parties went to conceal their bribes is powerful evidence of their 

corrupt intent.” 605 F.3d at 1197.  
6 Defendant Anderson says that this recharacterizes Paradies and “[a]t no time did 

the decision in Paradies make the finding attributed to it by McNair and quoted by 

the Government.” ECF 386 at 26.  But a reading of Paradies discloses that the 

evidence supporting the conviction, with one exception, was “a series of payments 

intended generally to influence the official’s decision.” McNair’s description of 

Paradies is accurate. And case law interpreting precedent is binding precedent as to 

that interpretation.   
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receiver] accepted property with the corrupt intent to use his official 

influence in [the payor’s] favor.” Id. at 521. In United States v. Gee, 432 

F.3d 713 (7th Cir. 2005) (Easterbrook, J.), the court once again followed 

the statute and explained “a sensible jury could conclude” that the official 

had corrupt intent where money was exchanged for his “influence.” Id. at 

715. And in United States v. Agostino, 132 F.3d 1183 (7th Cir. 1997), the 

court again emphasized the statutory requirements to act “corruptly . . .  

  
with intent to reward,” and “[t]his intent, and not any specific quid pro 

quo is what must be alleged in the indictment.” Id. at 1190.   

That—hewing to the statute—is the law of the Circuit. That is what 

is alleged in Counts 1 through 4 of the Third Superseding Indictment. 

Defendant Anderson’s contention that §666 “also requires a quid pro quo 

bribery scheme and that anything less than a quid pro quo is not a 

violation of section 666(a)(1)(B),” is simply not a correct statement of the 

law. The statute is the correct statement of the law. ECF 386 at 7. 

Defendant Anderson’s contention that “[a] particular quo is essential to 

the relationship and the offense” is simply wrong. ECF 386 at 11. And, 
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even if Defendant Anderson were right about those things, it would not 

make the §666 charges facially deficient.   

Following McDonnell, the Eleventh Circuit decided Roberson, 998 

F.3d 1237. There the court reaffirmed the validity of the retainer theory 

of liability under §666; that is, where “a person bribes an individual or 

entity in exchange for a continuing course of conduct.” Id. at 1245 n.10. 

The court specifically considered “whether McNair remains good law 

after McDonnell”; that is, whether the “official act” requirement from 18  

U.S.C. §201 should be read into §666.” Id. at 1246.  The court said no: “we 

hold that McDonnell does not disturb this court’s holding in McNair and 

we do not read into [§]666 limitations unsupported by the language of the 

statute.” Id. at 1247.  

 As the Eleventh Circuit did not, this Court should not read 

limitations into §666 either, especially not in this procedural posture. The 

Court should reject Defendants’ facial challenges to the §666 counts.  

IV. Count 5 states fairly informs Defendant Finch of the 

charge and states an offense.   

  

 This Court should deny Defendant Finch’s motion to dismiss Count 5. 

The elements of a false statement charge under §1001 are that the 

defendant (1) made the statement or used the document as charged (2) 
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the statement or document was false; (3) the falsity concerned a material 

matter; (4) the defendant acted willfully knowing that the statement or 

document was false; and (5) the false statement or document was made 

or used for a matter over which a federal agency has jurisdiction. See 

Pattern Jury Instr. 11th Cir. O36; United States v. Hassoun, 477 F. Supp. 

2d 1210, 1216 (S.D. Fla. 2007).   

 Count 5 identifies Defendant Finch’s statement and use of the document. 

It also alleges that Defendant Finch made the statement and used the 

document knowingly and willfully, that the statement and use of the 

document were material, and that Defendant Finch made them in a 

matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch. These allegations 

“include all elements of the offense and briefly describe the facts,” and 

are therefore sufficiently definite within the meaning of the Sixth 

Amendment. See deVegter, 198 F.3d at 1330.  

 It then identifies practical and common-sense reasons why the statement 

and the document were false. See Perkins, 748 F.2d at 1524.    Defendant 

Finch nonetheless says Count 5 is ambiguous; that he has 5 questions 

about the charge. ECF 385 at 30. Here are clear and direct answers.   
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 First, Count 5 does indeed allege that Defendant Finch falsely stated 

that he “sold” the Motorhome. That is because he did not sell it. He 

provided it as a bribe.   

 Second, Count 5 does not really “allege that Finch falsely stated the sale 

price of the motorhome.”  Like the first question, as alleged in Count 5, 

the falsity is that this was not a sale at all and there was no price at all.   

 Third, Count 5 does not make allegations that Defendant Finch falsely 

stated how he received payment. An earlier indictment did.   

 Fourth, regarding the false bill of sale, Count 5 concerns what actually 

happened; no money was paid. Because it recites that $35,000 had been 

paid, when it had not, it does indeed falsely state the “agreed upon 

terms.”  

 Fifth, Count 5 alleges what is described above. There is nothing 

ambiguous about Count 5.   

  Defendant Finch says that Count 5 fails to state an offense. ECF  

385 at 31. That suggests a challenge to the facial validity of the charge. 

But much of the remaining argument concerns evidence, not the 

allegation. By analogy, it reads more like a civil summary judgment 

motion than a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. But, as the Court knows, in federal 
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criminal cases there is not a pretrial determination of the sufficiency of 

the evidence.   

 In support of the Rule 12(b)(3)(B)(v) argument, Defendant Finch says his 

“statements are objectively true.” ECF 385 at 31. There is a literal truth 

defense to a charge under §1001. See Bronston v. United  

States, 409 U.S. 352 (1973). The objective or literal truth of the statement 

exists independently despite a declarant’s intent to deceive. 7  This is 

generally a question of evidentiary sufficiency for a Rule 29 motion not 

suitable for resolution on a Rule 12 motion to dismiss. See United States 

v. Subeh, No. 04-CR-6077T, 2006 WL 219968, at *11 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 24,  

2006) (holding same); see, e.g., United States v. Petzold, 788 F.2d 1478, 

1482 (11th Cir. 1986) (analyzing the sufficiency of evidence for a literal 

truth defense).8 That makes sense; whether a statement alleged to be 

 
7  For an illustration, see United States v. Castro, 704 F.3d 125 (3d Cir. 2013) 

(concerning defendant who subjectively intended to deceive but spoke the objective 

(or literal) truth that he did not get money from an individual he thought he was 

extorting because the money actually came from law enforcement).   

  
8 The legal standard necessary to prevail on a motion for a judgement of acquittal is 

“[i]n considering a motion for the entry of a judgement of acquittal, a district court 

'must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, and determine 

whether a reasonable jury could [find] the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable 

doubt.’” United States v. Miranda, 425 F.3d 953, 959 (11th Cir.2005) (quoting United 

States v. Sellers, 87l F.2d 1019, 1021 (11th Cir. 1989)).  
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false is objectively false is best judged in light of all the evidence relevant 

to whether it was false.   

 Defendant Finch points to United States v. Vesaas, 586 F.2d 101, 103 

(8th Cir. 1978). The case concerned an allegation that a defendant falsely 

stated that he did not know of any property he held in joint tenancy with 

a deceased relative. It concerns a statement that is true  

  
because it was legally impossible (at least, apparently in that and most 

common law jurisdictions) to hold property in joint tenancy with a dead 

person. The case seems correctly decided. But it is not applicable. Count 

5 alleges that Defendant Finch’s statement that he sold the Motorhome 

to Lee Anderson was false because it was not factually a sale; it was a 

bribe. It is not legally impossible to falsely claim that one sold a vehicle 

when there was no “sale” and it was given over as a bribe; a false 

statement of that sort is legally punishable under §1001.   

 Regarding the use of the false bill of sale, Defendant Finch says that a 

“contract” of that sort can be false if it contains a factual 

misrepresentation. See ECF 385 at 37 (citing United States v. 

Blankenship, 382 F.3d 1110, 1132 (11th Cir. 2004)). The government 
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agrees. The case Defendant Finch cites, Blankenship, discussed a 

previous case where a contract was “false” because it falsely asserted that 

a public official had paid for work done on his home by contractors 

actually paid to do work on a public facility. 382 F.3d at 1132--1132  

(citing United States v. Jespersen, 65 F.3d 993 (2d Cir. 1995)). It was 

“turned . . . over to a grand jury as evidence that [the defendant] had not 

been receiving free work from the contractor.” 65 F.3d at 1133.   

 Thus, Defendant Finch’s argument and helpful citation to Blankenship 

and its reference to Jespersen supports the government’s position, not 

Defendant Finch’s position. Indeed, it well illustrates why Count 5 states 

an offense. Here the bill of sale was, allegedly, false because it 

represented that Lee Anderson had paid $35,000 in down payment for 

the Motorhome as of July 2018 when the Andersons, allegedly, paid no 

money for the Motorhome until December 2019.10 Defendant Finch 

turned the bill of sale over to the FBI as evidence that  

  
 10  The issue here is the legal sufficiency of the indictment allegations, not the 

evidence supporting them. But, the government points out what it said before. In 

September 2021, the government conferred with Defendant Anderson’s attorney 

about the case and a potential second superseding indictment. Defense Anderson’s 
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counsel asked whether there was any particular information that might change the 

government’s mind about pursuing charges against her. The single thing the 

government requested was evidence that Defendant Anderson or her spouse had 

actually paid $35,000 (or any money at all) for the Motorhome by July 6, 2018, the 

date indicated on the bill of sale Defendant Finch presented to the FBI, which 

indicated $35,000 had been paid as of that date, or any information that any money 

was paid before the November 2019 indictments. After some time, counsel declined 

to provide anything in that regard, which of course they are not obligated to do. Since 

that would be critical evidence, and Defendants have produced no documents 

establishing such a payment (which they would have been required to produce under 

Rule 16(b)), the government assumes their compliance with the discovery rules and 

that they have none. From Defendant Finch’s motion, where he discusses “the 

inherent nature of cash transactions,” ECF 385 at 35, the government anticipates 

testimony that the Andersons had $35,000 in cash stuffed under the figurative 

mattress for a motorhome that was unintentionally omitted from their bankruptcy 

statement of assets and federal tax returns, which the government will be presenting 

in evidence.   

the Andersons paid for the Motorhome when they had not. Count 5 states 

an offense under §1001.   

 V.  Oral argument is not necessary.   

 Defendant Finch asks for 90 minutes of oral argument on his motion, 

ECF 385. The government’s position is that “the facts and legal 

arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record, and the 

decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument.” C.f. 

Fed. R. App. 34(a)(2)(C). Anything else Defendants have to say can be 

said in a reply.   

CONCLUSION  

  Accordingly, this Court should deny Defendants’ motions to dismiss, 

ECF 385 and 386.  
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